



## **Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report**

**Recommendations and Reports** 

October 28, 2005 / Vol. 54 / No. RR-11

# Guidelines for Identifying and Referring Persons with Fetal Alcohol Syndrome



**INSIDE: Continuing Education Examination** 

The MMWR series of publications is published by the Coordinating Center for Health Information and Service, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Atlanta, GA 30333.

#### SUGGESTED CITATION

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Guidelines for identifying and referring persons with fetal alcohol syndrome. MMWR 2005;54(No. RR-11):[inclusive page numbers].

#### **Centers for Disease Control and Prevention**

Julie L. Gerberding, MD, MPH Director

Dixie E. Snider, MD, MPH Chief Science Officer

Tanja Popovic, MD, PhD Associate Director for Science

## Coordinating Center for Health Information and Service

Steven L. Solomon, MD Directors

#### **National Center for Health Marketing**

Jay M. Bernhardt, PhD, MPH Director

#### **Division of Scientific Communications**

Maria S. Parker (Acting) Director

Mary Lou Lindegren, MD *Editor*, MMWR *Series* 

Suzanne M. Hewitt, MPA

Managing Editor, MMWR Series

Teresa F. Rutledge (Acting) Lead Technical Writer-Editor

Jeffrey D. Sokolow, MA *Project Editor* 

Beverly J. Holland *Lead Visual Information Specialist* 

Lynda G. Cupell Malbea A. LaPete Visual Information Specialists

Quang M. Doan, MBA Erica R. Shaver Information Technology Specialists

#### **CONTENTS**

Introduction	1
Recommendations	2
Referral Considerations	5
Services for Persons with FAS	6
Alcohol Use During Pregnancy	7
Summary of Recommendations	8
References	9
Appendix	11
Continuing Education Activity	CE-1

#### **Disclosure of Relationship**

CDC, our planners, and our content experts wish to disclose that they have no financial interests or other relationships with the manufactures of commercial products, suppliers of commercial services, or commercial supporters. Presentations will not include any discussion of the unlabeled use of a product or a product under investigational use.

# Guidelines for Identifying and Referring Persons with Fetal Alcohol Syndrome

Prepared by Jacquelyn Bertrand, PhD R. Louise Floyd, DSN Mary Kate Weber, MPH

Fetal Alcohol Syndrome Prevention Team, Division of Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities, National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities

## Summary

Fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS) results from maternal alcohol use during pregnancy and carries lifelong consequences. Early recognition of FAS can result in better outcomes for persons who receive a diagnosis. Although FAS was first identified in 1973, persons with this condition often do not receive a diagnosis. In 2002, Congress directed CDC to update and refine diagnostic and referral criteria for FAS, incorporating recent scientific and clinical evidence. In 2002, CDC convened a scientific working group (SWG) of persons with expertise in FAS research, diagnosis, and treatment to draft criteria for diagnosing FAS. This report summarizes the diagnostic guidelines drafted by the SWG, provides recommendations for when and how to refer a person suspected of having problems related to prenatal alcohol exposure, and assesses existing practices for creating supportive environments that might prevent long-term adverse consequences associated with FAS. The guidelines were created on the basis of a review of scientific evidence, clinical expertise, and the experiences of families affected by FAS regarding the physical and neuropsychologic features of FAS and the medical, educational, and social services needed by persons with FAS and their families. The guidelines are intended to facilitate early identification of persons affected by prenatal exposure to alcohol so they and their families can receive services that enable them to achieve healthy lives and reach their full potential. This report also includes recommendations to enhance identification of and intervention for women at risk for alcohol-exposed pregnancies. Additional data are needed to develop diagnostic criteria for other related disorders (e.g., alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder).

## Introduction

Prenatal exposure to alcohol during pregnancy damages the developing fetus and is a leading preventable cause of birth defects and developmental disabilities (1–3). Children exposed to alcohol during fetal development can suffer multiple negative effects, including physical and cognitive deficits. Although the number and severity of negative effects can range from subtle to serious, they are always lifelong.

Referral and diagnosis for fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS) can be made throughout the lifespan. However, the majority of persons with FAS are referred and receive a diagnosis during childhood. Thus, the terms "child" or "children" as used in these guidelines are not intended to preclude referral, assessment, and diagnosis of older persons.

The material in this report originated in the National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities, José F. Cordero, MD, Director, and the Division of Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities, Coleen Boyle, PhD, Director.

Corresponding preparer: Jacquelyn Bertrand, PhD, National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities, 1600 Clifton Road NE, MS E-86, Atlanta, GA 30333. Telephone: 404-498-3928; Fax: 404-498-3050; E-mail: jbertrand@cdc.gov.

## **Background**

The effects of prenatal exposure to alcohol and basic diagnostic features of FAS were first described in 1973 (4–8). In 1981, the U.S. Surgeon General issued a public health advisory warning that alcohol use during pregnancy could cause birth defects (9); this warning was reissued in 2004 (10). In 1989, Congress mandated that language warning of the consequences of drinking during pregnancy be included on alcohol product labels (11).

Despite the known adverse effects of prenatal exposure to alcohol (4,5), children who experience these effects often do not receive a correct diagnosis or referral for diagnostic evaluation because of the absence of uniformly accepted diagnostic criteria and guidelines for referral. Early identification and diagnosis of FAS in affected persons are essential components to providing health, education, and social services that promote optimal well-being. In 2002, Congress directed CDC to 1) develop guidelines for diagnosing FAS and other negative birth outcomes resulting from prenatal exposure to alcohol, 2) incorporate these guidelines into curricula for medical and allied health students and practitioners, and 3) disseminate curricula concerning these guidelines to facilitate training of medical and allied health students and practitioners.

These guidelines represent a consensus of opinion from persons with expertise in relevant scientific and clinical fields, with input from service professionals and families affected by FAS. Information that served as the basis for the development of these guidelines was obtained from published scientific literature, clinical knowledge of participants, and the experience of families affected by FAS.

CDC staff initially identified reports and other documents that were used as the scientific basis for creating diagnostic guidelines. On the basis of this information, and in coordination with the National Taskforce on Fetal Alcohol Syndrome and Fetal Alcohol Effect (NTFFAS/FAE), other federally funded FAS programs, and nongovernment organizations concerned with FAS, CDC formed a scientific working group (SWG) of persons with expertise in research and clinical practice regarding prenatal exposure to alcohol to develop diagnostic guidelines for FAS.

Guidelines were formulated on the basis of consensus among SWG members and NTFFAS/FAE. To assist in defining the dysmorphologic features most useful for identifying persons with FAS, SWG members assembled a matrix of the major and associated dysmorphic features of non-FAS syndromes that had one or more features in common with FAS. This matrix was used to determine a combination of dysmorphic features most discriminative for FAS. To assist deliberations concerning central nervous system (CNS) abnormalities associated with FAS, persons with expertise in the science, assessment, and treatment of psychological aspects of FAS were asked to identify the CNS abnormalities and other neurobehavioral domains most common among persons affected by prenatal alcohol exposure. These responses formed the basis for discussion and the resulting guidelines for CNS abnormalities for persons with FAS.

This report summarizes the guidelines drafted as a result of the SWG's deliberations, provides recommendations for when and how to refer a person suspected of having problems related to prenatal alcohol exposure, and assesses existing practices for creating supportive environments that might prevent long-term adverse consequences associated with FAS.

#### **Prevalence**

Varied FAS prevalences (range: 0.2–1.5 cases per 1,000 live births) have been reported worldwide (12–15). Other studies that used different ascertainment methodologies have produced different estimates (range: 0.5–2.0 cases per 1,000 live births) (16–22). These rates are comparable with or higher than rates for other common developmental disabilities (e.g., Down syndrome or spina bifida) (23). On the basis of these prevalence estimates, approximately 4 million infants are born

each year with prenatal alcohol exposure, and an estimated 1,000-6,000 are born with FAS.

Studies have reported consistently that >50% of all U.S. women of childbearing age report alcohol consumption during the previous month (1,24-28). The majority of these women drank only occasionally, but ≥13% could have been classified as moderate or heavy drinkers. In addition, 12% of women reported binge drinking (i.e., consuming five or more drinks on one occasion) during the preceding month (1,25,27,28). Approximately half of all U.S. pregnancies are unintended, and millions of women of childbearing age are sexually active while not using adequate contraception (24-28). Recent data from the Behavioral Risk Factors Surveillance System indicate that an estimated 12%-13% of U.S. women aged 18-44 years are sexually active, do not use contraception effectively, and drink alcohol frequently or binge drink, thereby putting them at risk for an alcohol-exposed pregnancy (24). Because data are available for all subpopulations, prevalences might be greater than these data indicate.

## **Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder**

Multiple terms are used to describe the continuum of effects that result from prenatal exposure to alcohol, including fetal alcohol effects, alcohol-related birth defects (ARBD), alcohol-related neurodevelopment disorder (ARND), and, most recently, fetal alcohol spectrum disorders (FASDs) (29). In April 2004, the National Organization on Fetal Alcohol Syndrome (NOFAS) convened a meeting of representatives from three federal agencies (the National Institutes of Health [NIH], CDC, and the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration [SAMHSA]) and persons with expertise in the field to develop a consensus definition of FASDs. The resulting definition, which is used in this report, defined FASDs as the range of effects that can occur in a person whose mother drank alcohol during pregnancy, including physical, mental, behavior, and learning disabilities, with possible lifelong implications. As this definition indicates, multiple diagnostic categories (e.g., FAS, ARND, and ARBD) are subsumed under the term FASDs. However, FASDs is not a diagnostic category and should be used only when referring to the collection of diagnostic terms resulting from prenatal exposure to alcohol.

## **Recommendations**

## **Diagnostic Criteria**

For the majority of health-care providers, the key indicator of FAS is the set of characteristic facial features first described

in 1973 (4). Alcohol is a teratogen that results in dysmorphia, growth problems, and abnormalities of the central nervous system in multiple ways (30,31).

Confirmation and documentation of prenatal alcohol exposure can be difficult to establish. For birth mothers, admission of alcohol use during pregnancy can be stigmatizing. The situation can be further complicated if the woman continues to use alcohol, especially at high consumption rates. Clinicians might need to obtain information regarding alcohol use from other reliable informants, such as a relative.

Clinicians often have to evaluate a child or adult for FAS without definitive information regarding the mother's use of alcohol during pregnancy. This situation occurs frequently for children in foster and adoptive homes. In such cases, every effort should be made to obtain the necessary information, but lack of confirmation of alcohol use during pregnancy should not preclude a diagnosis of FAS if all other criteria are present. In rare instances, absence of exposure will be confirmed. Documentation that the birth mother did not drink any amount of alcohol from conception through birth would indicate that a FAS diagnosis is not appropriate. This finding typically implies either that the birth mother knew the date of conception (e.g., a planned pregnancy) and did not consume alcohol from that day forward or that she was prevented from drinking for a certain reason (e.g., incarceration).

Because of the imprecise nature of exposure information, the following two qualifying terms are suggested for a finding of prenatal alcohol exposure:

- FAS with confirmed prenatal alcohol exposure requires documentation of the alcohol consumption patterns of the birth mother during the index pregnancy on the basis of clinical observation; self-reports; reports of heavy alcohol use during pregnancy by a reliable informant; medical records documenting positive blood alcohol levels or alcohol treatment; or other social, legal, or medical problems related to drinking during the index pregnancy.
- FAS with unknown prenatal alcohol exposure indicates neither a confirmed presence nor a confirmed absence of exposure. Examples include situations in which the child is adopted, and any prenatal exposure is unknown; the birth mother is an alcoholic, but confirmed evidence of exposure during pregnancy does not exist; or conflicting reports regarding exposure exist that cannot be reliably resolved.

Prenatal exposure to alcohol alone is not sufficient to warrant a diagnosis of FAS. Despite the heterogeneity of expression for features related to prenatal exposure to alcohol, a diagnosis of FAS requires documentation of three findings: 1) three specific facial abnormalities; 2) growth deficit; and

3) CNS abnormalities (Appendix) (30,31) (Box).

#### BOX. Characteristics for diagnosing fetal alcohol syndrome

## Facial dysmorphia

On the basis of racial norms (i.e., those appropriate for a person's race), the person exhibits all three of the following characteristic facial features:

- smooth philtrum (University of Washington Lip-Philtrum Guide\* rank 4 or 5\*),
- thin vermillion border (University of Washington Lip-Philtrum Guide rank 4 or 5), and
- small palpebral fissures (≤10th percentile).

## Growth problems

Confirmed, documented prenatal or postnatal height, weight, or both ≤10th percentile, adjusted for age, sex, gestational age, and race or ethnicity

## Central nervous system abnormalities Structural

- Head circumference ≤10th percentile, adjusted for age and sex
- Clinically meaningful brain abnormalities observable through imaging (e.g., reduction in size or change in shape of the corpus callosum, cerebellum, or basal ganglia)

### Neurologic

• Neurologic problems (e.g., motor problems or seizures) not resulting from a postnatal insult or fever, or other soft neurologic signs outside normal limits

### **Functional**

Test performance substantially below that expected for a person's age, schooling, or circumstances, as evidenced by either:

- global cognitive or intellectual deficits representing multiple domains of deficit (or substantial developmental delay in younger children) with performance below the third percentile (i.e., two standard deviations below the mean for standardized testing); or
- functional deficits <16th percentile (i.e., one standard deviation below the mean for standardized testing) in at least three of the following domains:
  - cognitive or developmental deficits or discrepancies,
  - executive functioning deficits,
  - motor functioning delays,
  - problems with attention or hyperactivity,
  - social skills, or
  - other (e.g., sensory problems, pragmatic language problems, or memory deficits).

Source: Bertrand J, Floyd RL, Weber MK, et al. Fetal alcohol syndrome: guidelines for referral and diagnosis. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, CDC; 2004. Available at http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/fas/documents/FAS\_guidelines\_accessible.pdf.

<sup>\*</sup> Astley SJ. Diagnostic guide for fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: The 4-digit diagnostic code. 3rd ed. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Publication Services; 2004.

## **Considerations When Diagnosing FAS**

Because FAS is a syndrome rather than a specific disease, additional features can be present. For example, in addition to the key facial dymorphic features, maxillary hypoplasia is often noted for persons with FAS (3). Features often change with age or development. After puberty, the characteristic facial features associated with FAS can become more difficult to detect (32). However, the key features remain constant for the majority of persons with FAS (33,34).

Changes in growth pattern across development also lead to variability in presentation. For certain affected persons, growth problems might occur at a younger age but not be present at the time of the diagnostic evaluation. This is particularly important when considering prenatal growth retardation or early growth problems caused by failure to thrive. Because multiple treatments exist for growth problems (e.g., use of feeding tubes or hormone therapy), any history of growth retardation, including prenatal growth deficiencies, is consistent with the criteria for diagnosing FAS (*35*). The clinician should be certain that the child was not nutritionally deprived at the single point in time when the growth deficit was present. The adopted threshold for growth (<10th percentile) represents an attempt to maximize sensitivity, even though it reduces specificity.

### **CNS Abnormalities**

The diagnostic criteria for CNS abnormality require documentation of one of three types of deficits or abnormalities (i.e., structural, neurologic, and functional). A person might have more than one CNS abnormality (36). Identifying CNS abnormalities resulting from prenatal alcohol exposure can be the most difficult aspect of a FAS diagnosis because of the heterogeneity of expression for these deficits across persons (Appendix).

Approximately one fourth of persons who receive a diagnosis of FAS perform at two standard deviations below the mean (which approaches substantial impairment [i.e., mental retardation]) on standardized measures of cognition (37). To capture the full spectrum of effects adequately, two levels of functional deficits are consistent with the criteria for a CNS abnormality: 1) performance below the third percentile (i.e., two standard deviations below the mean) on a measure of global cognitive functioning or 2) performance <16th percentile (i.e., one standard deviation below the mean) on standardized measures of three functional domains. Thus, persons scoring below the normal range on a global measure of intelligence or development and persons scoring in the belowaverage range on standardized measures of three specific

functional domains would be consistent with the criteria for functional CNS abnormality for diagnostic purposes.

Because of the importance of documenting CNS abnormalities and the variability in functional deficits, the diagnostic process should include a thorough neuropsychologic evaluation that assesses multiple domains. Extensive standardized testing might not be readily available in all diagnostic settings. Clinicians are encouraged to supplement their observations by obtaining standardized testing through early intervention programs, public schools, and psychologists in private practice. Such testing will facilitate the development of appropriate personalized treatment plans for persons who receive a diagnosis of FAS. These guidelines recommend that functional domains be assessed by using norm-referenced standardized measures. Assessments should be conducted by professionals using reliable and validated instruments.

## **Differential Diagnosis**

Individual dysmorphic features are not unique to any particular syndrome. Even rare defects or certain clusters of dysmorphic features can appear in multiple syndromes. Therefore, a process of differential diagnosis is essential in making an accurate FAS diagnosis. Features that discriminate these disorders from FAS have been described (38). Certain syndromes have single overlapping features with FAS. With the exception of toluene embryopathy, no other known syndrome has the full constellation of small palpebral fissures, thin vermillion border, and smooth philtrum. However, for certain syndromes (e.g., Williams syndrome, Dubowitz syndrome, or fetal dilantin syndrome), the overall constellation of features (primary, occasional features, or both) is similar to FAS, and these syndromes should be considered in particular when completing the differential diagnosis.

Growth retardation and deficiencies occur among children, adolescents, and adults for multiple reasons. Insufficient nutrition could be a particular problem for infants with poor sucking responses who fail to thrive. In addition, certain genetic disorders result in specific growth deficiencies (e.g., dwarfism). Prenatal growth retardation can result from multiple factors, including maternal smoking or other behaviors leading to hypoxia, poor maternal nutrition, or genetic disorders unrelated to maternal alcohol consumption. Both environmental and genetic bases for growth retardation should be considered for differential diagnosis when considering a FAS diagnosis. Finally, because a threshold of <10th percentile (rather than the lower threshold of the third percentile commonly used to denote growth retardation) was adopted, certain children will be classified as being consistent with this

criterion for reasons other than prenatal exposure to alcohol (e.g., parents having short stature). However, because the diagnosis of FAS is made only when facial dysmorphia and CNS abnormalities also are present, the increased sensitivity achieved with the 10th percentile was selected.

Differential diagnosis of CNS abnormities involves not only ruling out other disorders but also specifying simultaneously occurring disorders. CNS deficits associated with FAS (especially functional deficits) can be produced by multiple factors in addition to prenatal alcohol exposure. Observed functional deficits should be determined not to be better explained by other causes. In addition to other organic syndromes that produce deficits in one or more of the previously cited domains (e.g., Williams syndrome and Down syndrome), disrupted home environments or other external factors can produce functional deficits in multiple domains that overlap those affected by FAS. In making a differential diagnosis of FAS, the clinician should evaluate CNS abnormalities in conjunction with dysmorphia and laboratory findings. CNS abnormalities resulting from environmental influences (e.g., abuse or neglect, disruptive homes, and lack of opportunities) are harder to differentiate. To assist with differential diagnosis between FAS and environmental causes for CNS abnormalities, clinicians should obtain a complete, detailed history for the person and family members.

In addition to ruling out other causes for CNS abnormalities, a complete diagnosis should identify and specify other disorders that can coexist with FAS (e.g., autism, conduct disorder, or oppositional defiant disorder). A particular person might have a conduct disorder in addition to FAS; however, not all persons with FAS have conduct disorders, and not all persons with conduct disorders have FAS. Certain functional deficits might lead to additional behavior problems. For example, a child with an attention problem also could have conduct disorder. Clinicians should consider organic causes, environmental contributions, and comorbidity for both inclusive and exclusive purposes when evaluating a person for a FAS diagnosis (32,39). Because differential diagnosis for CNS abnormalities within a FAS diagnosis is difficult, the evaluation should be conducted by professionals trained in both the features of FAS and those of a broad array of birth defects and developmental disabilities.

# Conditions Consistent with a Subset of Diagnostic Criteria for FAS

The majority of persons with deficits resulting from prenatal exposure to alcohol do not express all the features necessary for a FAS diagnosis (*36*). Sufficient scientific evidence is not available to define diagnostic criteria for any prenatal alcohol-related condition other than FAS. Persons who have

the neurodevelopment deficits required for a FAS diagnosis but who do not have all three facial features or growth deficits might not receive a diagnosis and so not be provided with services. Ongoing funding has been provided by the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism to conduct research that might lead to evidence-based diagnostic criteria for persons with other conditions caused by prenatal alcohol use. CDC is using a collaborative database of neurodevelopment data from five intervention studies to explore the nature of persons who could be considered in the diagnostic category of alcohol related neurodevelopment disorder, as well as data from a prospective cohort study in Denmark of children aged 5 years. FAS is the only diagnostic category with scientific evidence to support clinical criteria at this time. As future data become available, these guidelines can be refined and expanded to delineate other conditions resulting from prenatal alcohol exposure.

## Mental Health Problems and Other Lifelong Consequences

FAS has lifelong consequences. Common FAS-related mental health conditions (excluding attention problems) reported include conduct disorders, oppositional defiant disorders, anxiety disorders, adjustment disorders, sleep disorders, and depression (37,40-44). Although attention problems can be classified as a mental health issue or psychiatric condition, in these guidelines, they are treated as a primary deficit resulting from alcohol-related CNS damage rather than a secondary mental health concern (45). Decreased adaptive skills and increased problems with daily living abilities have been documented (e.g., dependent living conditions, disrupted school experiences, poor employment records, and encounters with law enforcement, including incarceration) among persons with FAS (37). These mental health-related consequences should not be used for diagnosis. However, they are prevalent among persons with FAS and are likely to result in referral and comprehensive diagnostic evaluation.

## **Referral Considerations**

Providers of medical, educational, and social services often must decide whether to refer a child, person, or family to a specialist for a full FAS diagnostic evaluation. This decision can be difficult. For biologically related family members, social stigma might be associated with any evaluation concerning prenatal alcohol exposure. In adoptive or foster families, alcohol use during pregnancy might be suspected, but direct information might not be available.

The following guidelines were developed to assist service providers in making referral decisions. Each case should be evaluated individually. When in doubt, providers should refer persons for a full evaluation by a multidisciplinary team with experience in evaluating prenatal alcohol exposure.

The following circumstances should prompt a diagnostic referral:

- When prenatal alcohol exposure is known, a child should be referred for full FAS evaluation when substantial prenatal alcohol use (i.e., seven or more drinks per week, three or more drinks on multiple occasions, or both) has been confirmed. If substantial prenatal alcohol exposure is known, in the absence of any other positive criteria (i.e., dysmorphia, growth deficits, or CNS abnormalities), the primary health-care provider should document this exposure and monitor the child's ongoing growth and development closely.
- When information regarding prenatal alcohol exposure is unknown, a child should be referred for full FAS evaluation for any one of the following:
  - any report of concern by a parent or caregiver (e.g., foster or adoptive parent) that a child has or might have FAS;
  - presence of all three facial features (i.e., smooth philtrum, thin vermillion border, and small palpebral fissures);
  - presence of one or more of these facial features, with growth deficits in height, weight, or both;
  - presence of one or more facial features, with one or more CNS abnormalities; or
  - presence of one or more facial features, with growth deficits and one or more CNS abnormalities.

In addition to specific features associated with a FAS diagnosis, certain social and family history factors have been associated with prenatal alcohol exposure (46). The possibility of prenatal alcohol exposure should be considered fully for persons who are experiencing or have experienced one or more of the following:

- premature maternal death related to alcohol use (either disease or trauma),
- living with an alcoholic parent,
- current or previous abuse or neglect,
- current or previous involvement with child protective services agencies (PSAs),
- · a history of transient caregiving situations, or
- foster or adoptive placements (including kinship care).

Although such situations might have a negative impact on the development of any child, evidence exists that children with FAS or a related disorder are particularly likely to experience negative situations that involve a dysfunctional family unit (46), especially if the biologic mother abuses alcohol.

## **Services for Persons with FAS**

For persons with developmental disabilities and their families, diagnosis is never an endpoint. This is particularly true for persons with FAS, their families, and their communities. The diagnostic process (especially the neuropsychologic assessment) should be part of a continuum of care that identifies and facilitates appropriate health-care, education, and community services. Early diagnosis and a stable, nurturing home environment have been identified as strong protective factors for persons with FAS (46). Limited information is available regarding strategies for interventions specific to persons with FAS. Information available has been gathered primarily from the experience of persons with other disabilities and from that of parents gained through trial and error and shared through informal networks. Treatments currently employed to reduce the risk for adverse effects of FAS have not been evaluated systematically or scientifically. In 2001, CDC provided the first federal funding to develop and test systematic, scientifically developed interventions specific to FAS (e.g., a modified mathematics curriculum or a program to develop peer friendship skills). These projects are in their final stages, and findings will be published.

The learning and life skills affected by prenatal alcohol exposure vary among persons, depending on the amount, timing, and pattern of exposure and on each person's current and past environment (47,48). As a result, services needed for persons with FAS and their families vary according to the parts of the brain affected, the person's age or level of maturation, the health or functioning of the family, and the person's overall living environment. Thus, the service needs of affected persons and their families should be individualized (49). Certain general areas of service and specific services have been identified as helpful to persons with FAS and their families (32).

Interventions should include strategies that stabilize home placement and improve parent-child interaction (47). One means of accomplishing this goal is to increase the understanding of the disorder among parents, teachers, law enforcement personnel, and other professionals who might become involved with the affected person. Children with FAS often need specialized parenting techniques because of their difficulty with cause-and-effect reasoning and other executive functioning skills (47). Caregiver education should highlight and explain differences in the thought processes of children with FAS compared with typically developing children and children with other developmental disabilities. This knowl-

edge would enable parents to avoid potentially difficult situations (e.g., overly stimulating environments) and better manage problems when they do arise. Overall, a better functioning family that results from caregiver education promotes the stable, nurturing home that has been demonstrated to be a protective factor for children with FAS (50).

Professionals who work with persons affected by FAS could benefit from better understanding of the disorder and services available for affected persons and their families (39). These professionals can help link families with needed community resources and ensure that affected children receive maximum benefit from services provided. Interacting with social and educational service agencies can be overwhelming and confusing, and each agency typically uses a specialized vocabulary (i.e., jargon) that is difficult for nonspecialists to understand. In addition to being able to diagnose FAS, clinicians should help parents and caregivers identify available services, determine which ones are effective for their children, and understand how to work productively with service providers (32).

Prenatally exposed infants and children often enter the foster or adoptive care system at an early age. The prevalence of children with FAS or a related disorder in the foster care system is estimated to be 10 times that of the general population (51). Although PSAs might have information regarding a child's prenatal history, PSA staff generally do not know about FAS, understand how FAS affects the child, or communicate with other service systems regarding the child's FAS status (51). As a result, foster and adoptive families typically are not educated regarding the long-term effects of FAS and are unprepared to meet their children's needs.

The majority of PSAs require foster parents to take a specified number of educational courses annually. These courses should include education regarding the effects and developmental needs of children with FAS because the majority of foster parents will encounter at least one child with FAS or a related disorder during their time as a foster parent (51). Projects funded by CDC have developed FAS curricula for parents, educators, and juvenile justice systems; information regarding these curricula is available at http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/fas/awareness.htm.

The assessment process is integral to both the FAS diagnosis and the development of an effective treatment plan. Such a treatment plan minimizes risk factors for lifelong negative consequences and promotes protective factors that maximize developmental potential. Clinicians and service providers must ensure that assessments include communication and social skills, emotional maturity, verbal and comprehension abilities, language usage, and, if appropriate, referral for medication assessments. Finally, the health and development of

children with disabilities, including children with FAS, can be promoted by public support for programs that provide access to school, recreational, and social activities.

## **Alcohol Use During Pregnancy**

Because no safe threshold of alcohol use during pregnancy has been established, CDC and NTFFAS/FAE recommend that women who are pregnant, planning a pregnancy, or at risk for pregnancy should not drink alcohol. Women of child-bearing age who are not pregnant should drink no more than seven drinks per week and no more than three drinks on any one occasion.

Federal, state, and local agencies; clinicians and researchers; educational and social service professionals; and families should work together to educate women of childbearing age and communities countrywide regarding the risks of drinking alcohol during pregnancy. Women who have had at least one child with FAS are at especially high risk for giving birth to a second affected child (2,52). Universal screening for alcohol use among all women of childbearing age might help identify women who drink above recommended levels as well as those who drink and might become pregnant. Screening can be performed in clinicians' offices or in community health settings. Screening techniques that include measures of quantity, frequency, and heavy episodic drinking, as well as behavioral manifestations of risk drinking, have proven to be most beneficial; simple questionnaires have been developed to screen for problematic alcohol use among adults in multiple populations and settings (53).

Effective prevention programs frequently employ a multicomponent approach that combines cognitive-behavioral techniques with norms clarification, education, and motivational enhancement interventions. For women who screen positive for hazardous alcohol use or abuse, brief interventions that use time-limited, self-help, and preventative strategies to promote reductions in alcohol use in nondependent persons and that facilitate referral of dependent persons to specialized treatment programs are low-cost, effective treatment alternatives (54-57). The acronym FRAMES is used to encompass six key elements of the majority of successful brief interventions as follows: 1) feedback of personal risk, 2) responsibility for personal control, 3) advice to change, 4) menu of ways to reduce or stop drinking, 5) empathetic counseling style, and 6) self-efficacy or optimism regarding reducing or stopping drinking (58). Preconception counseling of women of childbearing age who are at risk for an alcohol-exposed pregnancy and who are not using effective contraception has been demonstrated as a promising method of prevention (59). Project

CHOICES, funded by CDC, is an example of a brief intervention that has been effective. Information regarding this project and other federally sponsored studies of prenatal alcohol screening and intervention programs is available at http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/fas, http://www.niaaa.nih.gov, http://www.fascenter.samhsa.gov, and http://www.preventive services.ahrq.gov.

## **Summary of Recommendations**

On the basis of a review of current scientific and clinical evidence, the following recommendations are made concerning referral of children and diagnosis of FAS:

## **Diagnosis of FAS**

- A diagnosis of FAS should be made if documentation exists of 1) all three dysmorphic facial features (i.e., smooth philtrum, thin vermillion border, and small palpebral fissures), 2) prenatal or postnatal growth deficit in height or weight, and 3) CNS abnormality.
- The diagnosis should be classified on the basis of available history as confirmed prenatal alcohol exposure or unknown prenatal alcohol exposure.
- CNS abnormality may be documented as structural, neurologic, or functional (Box).

#### Referral

- If prenatal alcohol exposure is known, a child or person should be referred for full FAS evaluation when alcohol abuse (defined as seven or more alcohol drinks per week or three or more alcohol drinks on multiple occasions, or both) is confirmed.
- If prenatal alcohol exposure is unknown, a child or person should be referred for full FAS evaluation when:
  - a parent or caregiver (foster or adoptive parent) reports that a child has or might have FAS;
  - all three facial features (i.e., smooth philtrum, thin vermillion border, and small palpebral fissures) are present;
  - one or more facial features are present in addition to growth deficits in height, weight, or both; one or more facial features are present and one or more CNS abnormalities; or
  - one or more facial features are present, with growth deficits and one or more CNS abnormalities.
- In addition to specific features associated with the FAS diagnosis, the following social and family history factors associated with prenatal exposures to alcohol might indicate a need for referral:

- premature maternal death related to alcohol use (either disease or trauma),
- living with an alcoholic parent,
- current or previous abuse or neglect,
- current or previous involvement with child PSAs,
- a history of transient caregiving situations, or
- having been in foster or adoptive care (including kinship care).

### **Services**

- The FAS diagnosis and the diagnostic process (especially the neuropsychologic assessment) should be considered as part of a continuum of care that identifies and facilitates appropriate health-care, education, and community services.
- General areas of service needs for persons with FAS and their families should include strategies that stabilize home placement, improve parent-child interaction through caregiver education, advocate for access to services, and educate service professionals involved with affected persons and their families regarding FAS and its consequences.
- Specific intervention services should be tailored to a
  person's individual needs and deficits. These might
  include communication and social skills; emotional
  development; verbal and comprehension abilities; language usage; and, if appropriate, referral for medication
  assessments.
- The needs of children in adoptive or foster placements should receive particular attention in the diagnostic and referral process.

#### **Prevention**

- Federal, state, and local agencies; clinicians and researchers; educational and social service professionals; and families should work together to educate women of childbearing age and communities countrywide regarding the risks of drinking alcohol during pregnancy.
- Universal screening by health-care providers for alcohol use is recommended for all women of childbearing age.
- For women drinking at risk levels and not effectively using contraception, brief interventions have proven effective in reducing the risk for an alcohol-exposed pregnancy.
- Because no safe threshold of alcohol use during pregnancy has been established, women who are pregnant, planning a pregnancy, or at risk for pregnancy should be advised not to drink alcohol. Women who are not pregnant, not planning a pregnancy, or not at risk for unintended preg-

- nancy should be advised to drink no more than seven drinks per week and no more than three drinks on any one occasion.
- Additional information regarding these guidelines has been published (60).

#### References

- 1. CDC. Alcohol use among childbearing-age women—United States, 1991–1999. MMWR 2002;51:273–6.
- CDC. Frequent alcohol consumption among women of childbearing age—Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 1991. MMWR 1994;43:328–9, 335.
- Ebrahim SH, Luman ET, Floyd RL, Murphy CC, Bennett EM, Boyle CA. Alcohol consumption by pregnant women in the United States during 1988–1995. Obstet Gynecol 1998;92:187–92.
- Jones KL, Smith DW, Ulleland CN, Streissguth AP. Pattern of malformation in offspring of chronic alcoholic mothers. Lancet 1973;1:1267–71.
- Jones KL, Smith DW. Recognition of the fetal alcohol syndrome in early infancy. Lancet 1973;2:999–1001.
- Hanson JW, Jones KL, Smith DW. Fetal alcohol syndrome: experience with 41 patients. JAMA 1976;235:1458–60.
- 7. Clarren KJ, Smith DW. The fetal alcohol syndrome. N Engl J Med 1978;298:1063–7.
- 8. Smith DW. The fetal alcohol syndrome. Hosp Pract 1979;14:121-8.
- 9. US Surgeon General. Advisory on alcohol and pregnancy. FDA Drug Bulletin 1981;11:9–10.
- US Surgeon General. Advisory on alcohol use in pregnancy. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services; December 14, 2004.
- 11. Hankin JR. FAS prevention strategies: passive and active measures. Alcohol Res Health 1994;18:62–6.
- CDC. Fetal alcohol syndrome—Alaska, Arizona, Colorado, and New York, 1995–1997. MMWR 2002;51:433–5.
- CDC. Surveillance for fetal alcohol syndrome using multiple sources— Atlanta, Georgia, 1981–1989. MMWR 1997;46:1118–20.
- CDC. Update: trends in fetal alcohol syndrome—United States, 1979– 1993. MMWR 1995;44:249–51.
- CDC. Fetal alcohol syndrome—United States, 1979–1992. MMWR 1993;42:339–41.
- Cordero JF, Floyd RL, Martin ML, Davis M, Hymbaugh K. Tracking the prevalence of FAS. Alcohol Res Health 1994;18:82–5.
- 17. May PA, Gossage JP. Estimating the prevalence of fetal alcohol syndrome: a summary. Alcohol Res Health 2001;25:159–67.
- Sampson PD, Streissguth AP, Bookstein FL, et al. Incidence of fetal alcohol syndrome and prevalence of alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder. Teratology 1997;56:317–26.
- Egeland GM, Katherin PH, Gessner BD, Ingle D, Berner JE, Middaugh JP. Fetal alcohol syndrome in Alaska, 1977 through 1992: an administrative prevalence derived from multiple data sources. Am J Public Health 1998;88:781–6.
- Chavez GF, Cordero JF, Becerra JE. Leading major congenital malformations among minority groups in the United States, 1981–1986. In: Surveillance Summaries, July 1, 1988. MMWR 1988;37(No. SS-3):17–24.
- 21. Abel El. An update on incidence of FAS: FAS is not an equal opportunity birth defect. Neurotoxicol Teratol 1995;17:437–43.
- 22. May PA, Hymbaugh KJ, Aase JM, Samet JM. Epidemiology of fetal alcohol syndrome among American Indians of the Southwest. Soc Biol 1983;30:374–87.

- 23. Mirkes PE. 2003 congenital malformations surveillance report: a report from the national birth defects prevention network. Birth Defects Research 2003;67:595–668.
- Ebrahim SH, Anderson AK, Floyd RL. Alcohol consumption by reproductive-aged women in the USA: an update on assessment, burden and prevention in the 1990s. Prenat Neonat Med 1999;4:419–30.
- CDC. Alcohol consumption among women who are pregnant or who might become pregnant—United States. MMWR 2004;53:1178–81.
- Hanson JW, Streissguth AP, Smith DW. The effect of moderate alcohol consumption during pregnancy on fetal growth and morphogenesis. J Pediatr 1978;92:457–60.
- Wilsnack SC, Wilsnack RW, Hiller-Sturmhofel S. How women drink: epidemiology of women's drinking and problem drinking. Alcohol Res Health 1994;18:173–81.
- 28. Project CHOICES Research Group. Alcohol-exposed pregnancy: characteristics associated with risk. Am J Prev Med 2002;23:166–73.
- Streissguth AP, O'Malley K. Neuropsychiatric implications and longterm consequences of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Semin Clin Neuropsychiatry 2000;5:177–90.
- 30. US Department of Health and Human Services. 10th special report to the U.S. Congress on alcohol and health. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2000:300–9.
- 31. Abel EL, ed. Fetal alcohol syndrome: from mechanism to prevention. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1996.
- Streissguth AP. Fetal alcohol syndrome: a guide for families and communities. Baltimore, MD: Paul Brookes Publishing Co.; 1997.
- Astley SJ. Diagnostic guide for fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: the 4-digit diagnostic code. 3rd ed. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Publication Services; 2004.
- 34. Astley SJ, Clarren SK. Measuring the facial phenotype of individuals with prenatal alcohol exposure: correlations with brain dysfunction. Alcohol Alcohol 2001;36:147–59.
- 35. Coles CD, Brown RT, Smith IE, Platzman KA, Erickson S, Falek A. Effects of prenatal alcohol exposure at school age I: physical and cognitive development. Neurotoxicol Teratol 1991;13:357–67.
- 36. Stratton K, Howe C, Battaglia F, eds. Fetal alcohol syndrome: diagnosis, epidemiology, prevention, and treatment. Washington, DC: Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press; 1996.
- 37. Streissguth AP, Barr HM, Kogan J, Bookstein FL. Understanding the occurrence of secondary disabilities in clients with fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS) and fetal alcohol effects (FAE): final report. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Publication Services; 1996.
- 38. Jones KL. Smith's recognizable patterns of human malformations. 5th ed. Philadelphia, PA: WB Saunders Co.; 1997.
- Kabel JA, Coles CD. Teratology of alcohol: implications for school settings. In: Brown R, ed. Handbook of pediatric psychology in school settings. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 2004:379–404.
- 40. Streissguth AP, O'Malley K. Neuropsychiatric implications and long-term consequences of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Semin Clin Neuropsychiatry 2000;5:177–90.
- 41. O'Connor MJ, Kasari C. Prenatal alcohol exposure and depressive features in children. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2000;24:1084–92.
- 42. O'Connor MJ, Sigman M, Brill N. Disorganization of attachment in relation to maternal alcohol consumption. J Consult Clin Psych 1987;55:831–6.
- 43. O'Connor MJ, Signman M, Kasari C. Attachment behavior of infants exposed prenatally to alcohol: mediating effects of infant affect and mother-infant interaction. Dev Psychopathol 1992;4:243–56.

- 44. LaDue RA, Streissguth AP, Randels SP. Clinical considerations pertaining to adolescents and adults with fetal alcohol syndreome. In: Sonderegger TB, ed. Perinatal substance abuse: research findings and clinical implications. Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins University Press; 1992:104–31.
- O'Malley KD, Nanson J. Clinical implications of a link between fetal alcohol spectrum disorder and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Can J Psychiatry 2002;47:349–54.
- 46. Streissguth AP, Bookstein FL, Barr HM, Sampson PD, O'Malley K, Young JK. Risk factors for adverse life outcomes in fetal alcohol syndrome and fetal alcohol effects. Dev Beh Ped 2004;25:228–38.
- 47. Carmichael-Olson H. Helping individuals with fetal alcohol syndrome and related conditions: a clinician's overview. In: McMahon RJ, Peters RDeV, eds. The effects of parental dysfunction on children. New York, NY: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers; 2002:147–77.
- 48. Abel EL. Fetal alcohol abuse syndrome and fetal alcohol effects. New York, NY: Plenum Press; 1998.
- 49. Davis D. Reaching out to children with FAS/FAE: a handbook for teachers, counselors, and parents who work with children affected by fetal alcohol syndrome and fetal alcohol effects. West Nyack, NY: The Center for Applied Research in Education; 1994.
- Briesmeister JM, Schaefer CE, ed. Handbook of parent training: parents as co-therapists for children's behavior problems. 2nd ed. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.; 1998.
- Astley SJ, Stachowiak J, Clarren SK, Clausen C. Application of the fetal alcohol syndrome facial photographic screening tool in a foster care population. J Pediat 2002;141:712–7.

- Abel EL. Fetal alcohol syndrome in families. [Commentary]. Neurotoxicol Teratol 1988;10:1–2.
- 53. Cherpitel CJ. Screening for alcohol problems in the U.S. general population: comparison of the CAGE, RAPS4, and RAPS4-QF by gender, ethnicity, and service utilization. Rapid alcohol problems screen, Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2002;26:1686–91.
- 54. Fleming MF. Brief interventions and the treatment of alcohol use disorders: current evidence. Recent Dev Alcohol 2003;16:375–90.
- 55. Bien TH, Miller WR, Tonigan JS. Brief interventions for alcohol problems: a review. Addiction 1993;88:315–35.
- Babor TF, Higgins-Biddle JC. Alcohol screening and brief intervention: dissemination strategies for medical practice and public health. Addiction 2000;95:677–86.
- Poikolainen K. Effectiveness of brief interventions to reduce alcohol intake in primary health care populations: a meta-analysis. Prev Med 1999;28:503–9.
- 58. Miller WR, Sanchez VC. Motivating young adults for treatment and lifestyle change. In: Howard G, ed. Issues in alcohol use and misuse in young adults. South Bend, IN: University of Notre Dame Press; 1993.
- 59. Floyd RL, Decoufle P, Hungerford DW. Alcohol use prior to pregnancy recognition. Am J Prev Med 1999;17:101–7.
- 60. Bertrand J, Floyd RL, Weber MK, et al. Fetal alcohol syndrome: guidelines for referral and diagnosis. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, CDC; 2004. Available at http://www.cdc.gov/ ncbddd/fas/documents/FAS\_guidelines\_accessible.pdf.

## **Appendix**

# Central Nervous System Abnormalities Associated with Fetal Alcohol Syndrome (FAS)

Central nervous system (CNS) abnormalities are classified as structural, neurologic, or functional.

## **Structural**

- Documented evidence exists of small or diminished overall head circumference (also known as occipito-frontal circumference [OFC]) (i.e., ≤10th percentile), adjusted for age and sex (including head circumference at birth; (1,2). For children who have overall growth deficiency (i.e., height and weight <10th percentile) to meet this criteria for CNS abnormality, the child's head circumference should be disproportionately small to the child's overall size (i.e., OFC at or below the third percentile).</p>
- Clinically significant brain abnormalities are observable through imaging techniques (e.g. reduction in size or change in shape of the corpus callosum, cerebellum, or basal ganglia), as assessed by an appropriately trained professional (1,3–10). A child could have a structural abnormality that would be consistent with a diagnosis of fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS) but not demonstrate detectable functional deficits.

## Neurologic

• Documented evidence exists of CNS neurologic damage. Neurologic problems can include seizures not attributable to a postnatal insult or fever or other soft neurologic signs outside normal limits (e.g., coordination problems, visual motor difficulties, nystagmus, or difficulty with motor control) (11–14). As with head circumference, abnormal neurologic findings among younger children can be most predictive of underlying CNS abnormality resulting from prenatal alcohol exposure rather than later environmental factors. Use of norm-referenced measures of neurologic functioning is recommended.

## **Functional**

 Assessment findings indicate deficits, problems, or abnormalities in functional CNS skills. Early brain damage is usually generalized rather than specific, with increased specificity of abnormalities revealed as development progresses. Functional abilities affected by prenatal exposure to alcohol vary from person to person, depending on the amount, timing, and pattern of alcohol exposure (e.g., chronic exposure versus binge episodes). Despite this inherent variation in effects, areas of functional vulnerability have been observed consistently by clinicians and researchers with particular damage to corresponding structures reported (e.g., corpus callosum, cerebellum, or basal ganglia).

For functional deficits, multiple locations in the brain (and corresponding functional capability) are generally accepted to be affected by prenatal exposure to alcohol. Functional deficits consistent with CNS abnormality criteria can be identified in two ways: 1) global cognitive deficit (e.g., decreased IQ) or substantial developmental delay in children too young for an IQ assessment or 2) deficits in three or more specific functional domains. These two ways of assessing functional CNS abnormality were adopted because of the composite nature of cognitive, intellectual, and developmental measures (15,16). Decreased performance on a standardized measure of cognition, intelligence, and development assumes deficits in multiple domains. In the absence of such a measure, multiple domains should be assessed individually to determine that multiple functional domains have been affected. For each domain, other agents and environmental factors can produce deficits or outcomes similar to prenatal alcohol exposure, making differential diagnosis essential.

The specific domains most often cited as areas of deficit or concern for persons with FAS are described below. These descriptions are intended to be suggestive and are examples of likely and possible problems a clinician might encounter and need to assess by using psychometric instruments. The examples are not intended to be exhaustive or to present a list of behaviors to be used as a checklist without reliable and valid assessment.

• Cognitive deficits or significant developmental discrepancies. Global deficits or delays can leave the child scoring in the normal range of development but below what would be expected for the child's environment and background (17–22). In addition to formal testing (either through records or current testing), behaviors that might be observed or reported in the clinical setting that suggest cognitive deficits or developmental delays that should be assessed by standardized testing include but are not limited to specific learning disabilities (especially mathematic or visual-spatial deficits), uneven profile of

- cognitive skills, low academic achievement, discrepancy between verbal and nonverbal skills, and slowed movements or reaction to persons and stimuli (e.g., difficulty in processing information) (23–27).
- Executive functioning deficits. Executive functioning (EF) is defined as the ability to maintain an appropriate problem solving set for attainment of a future goal. This ability includes the more specific skills of inhibition, planning, and mental representation (28). Behaviors that can be observed or reported in the clinical setting that might indicate an EF deficit that should be assessed by standardized testing include but are not limited to inadequate organization, planning, or strategy use; concrete thinking; lack of inhibition; difficulty grasping cause and effect; inability to delay gratification; difficulty following multistep directions; difficulty changing strategies or thinking of things in a different way (i.e., perseveration); impaired judgment; and inability to apply knowledge to new situations (29–33).
- Motor functioning delays or deficits. Both gross and fine motor skills can be impaired for persons with FAS (34,35). Visual-motor/visual-spatial coordination is a particularly vulnerable area of functioning (22,36–38). Behaviors that can be observed or reported in the clinical setting that indicate motor problems that should be assessed by standardized testing include but are not limited to delayed motor milestones, difficulty with writing or drawing, clumsiness, balance problems, tremors, and poor dexterity. For infants, a poor suck is often observed (17,38–40).
- Attention and hyperactivity problems. Attention problems are often noted for children with FAS, with children frequently receiving a diagnosis of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (41). Although such a diagnosis can be applied, attention problems for children with FAS do not appear to be consistent with the classic pattern of ADHD. Persons with FAS tend to have difficulty with the encoding of information and flexibility (shifting) aspects of attention, whereas children with ADHD typically display problems with focus and sustaining attention (42,43). Persons with FAS also can appear to display hyperactivity because their impulsivity might lead to increased activity levels. Behaviors that might be observed or reported in the clinical setting that suggest attention problems related to FAS that should be assessed by standardized testing include but are not limited to being described by adults as "busy," inattentive, easily distracted, difficulty calming down, being overly active, difficulty completing tasks, and/or trouble with transitions.

- Parents might report inconsistency in attention from day to day (e.g., "on" days and "off" days) (44–50).
- Social skills problems. The executive, attention, and developmental problems described previously often lead to clinically significant difficulty for persons with FAS when interacting with peers and others. Because of the mental representation problems, persons with FAS often have social perception or social communication problems that make it difficult for them to grasp the more subtle aspects of human interactions (51,52). Consistent difficulty understanding the consequence of behavior or inappropriate behavior frequently is described for persons with FAS (53,54). Behaviors that can be observed or reported in the clinical setting that indicate these types of social difficulties that should be assessed by standardized testing include but are not limited to lack of fear of strangers, naiveté and gullibility, being taken advantage of easily, inappropriate choice of friends, preferring younger friends, immaturity, superficial interactions, adaptive skills significantly below cognitive potential, inappropriate sexual behaviors, difficulty understanding the perspective of others, poor social cognition, and clinically significant inappropriate initiations or interactions (55–57). Standardized assessment of social problems can be difficult; social functioning is a multifaceted domain that can require multiple areas of assessment.
- Other potential domains that can be affected. In addition to these five most-often-cited problem areas, deficits and problems to be assessed by standardized testing can present in several other areas, including sensory problems (e.g., tactile defensiveness and oral sensitivity), pragmatic language problems (e.g., difficulty reading facial expression, and poor ability to understand the perspectives of others), memory deficits (e.g., forgetting well-learned material, and needing many trials to remember), and difficulty responding appropriately to common parenting practices (e.g., not understanding cause-and-effect discipline). Although abnormalities in these areas have been reported for persons with FAS, deficits in these areas are reported at a lower frequency than are those in the other five specific domains (53).

#### References

- Jones KL, Smith DW, Ulleland CN, Streissguth AP. Pattern of malformation in offspring of chronic alcoholic mothers. Lancet 1973;1:1267–71.
- 2. Samson HH. Microcephaly and fetal alcohol syndrome: human and animal studies. In: West JR, ed. Alcohol and brain development. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 1986:167–83.
- Johnson VP, Swayze VW, Sato Y, Andreasen NC. Fetal alcohol syndrome: craniofacial and central nervous system manifestations. Am J Med Genet 1996;61:329–39.

- 4. Riley EP, Mattson SN, Sowell ER, Jernigan TL, Sobel DF, Jones KL. Abnormalities of the corpus callosum in children prenatally exposed to alcohol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1995;19:1198–202.
- Mattson SN, Riley EP, Jernigan TL, et al. Fetal alcohol syndrome: a case report of neuropsychological, MRI and EEG assessment of two children. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1992;16:1001–3.
- Mattson SN, Riley EP, Jernigan TL, et al. A decrease in the size of the basal ganglia following prenatal alcohol exposure: a preliminary report. Neurotoxicol Teratol 1994;6:283–9.
- Mattson SN, Riley EP, Sowell ER, Jernigan TL, Sobel DF, Jones KL. A decrease in the size of the basal ganglia in children with fetal alcohol syndrome. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1996;20:1088–93.
- 8. Harris-Collazo MR, Kwok W, Mattson SN, Jernigan SN, Riley EP. Quantitative magnetic resonance imaging analysis of fetal alcohol syndrome. J Int Neuropsychol Soc 1998;4:48.
- Riikonen RS. Difference in susceptibility to teratogenic effects of alcohol in discordant twins exposed to alcohol during the second half of gestation. Pediatric Neurol 1994;11:332–6.
- Sowell ER, Jernigan TL, Mattson SN, Riley EP, Sobel DF, Jones KL. Abnormal development of the cerebellar vermis in children prenatally exposed to alcohol, size reduction in lobules I–V. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1996;20:31–4.
- Thomas CL. Taber's cyclopedic medical dictionary. Philadelphia, PA: F.A. Davis Company; 1993.
- Robuck TM, Simmons RW, Richardson C, Mattson SN, Riley EP. Neuromuscular responses to disturbance of balance in children with prenatal exposure to alcohol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1998;22:1992–7.
- Church MW. The effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on hearing and vestibular function. In: Abel EL, ed. Fetal alcohol syndrome: from mechanism to prevention. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1996:85–111.
- Marcus JC. Neruological findings in the fetal alcohol syndrome. Neuropediatrics 1987;18:158–60.
- Prifitera A, Saklofske DH. WISC-III clinical use and interpretation: scientist-practitioner perspectives. San Diego, CA: Academic Press; 1998.
- Brody N. Intelligence: nature, determinants, and consequences. 2nd ed. San Diego, CA: Academic Press; 1976.
- Coles CD, Brown RT, Smith IE, Platzman KA, Erickson S, Falek A. Effects of prenatal alcohol exposure at school age. I: physical and cognitive development. Neurotoxicol Teratol 1991;13:357–67.
- 18. Streissguth AP, Barr HM, Kogan J, Bookstein FL. Understanding the occurrence of secondary disabilities in clients with fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS) and fetal alcohol effects (FAE): final report. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Publication Services; 1996.
- Mattson SM, Riley EP, Gramling L, Delis DC, Jones KL. Heavy prenatal alcohol exposure with or without physical features of fetal alcohol syndrome leads to IQ deficits. J Pediatr 1997;131:718–21.
- 20. Conry J. Neuropsychological deficits in fetal alcohol syndrome and fetal alcohol effects. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1990;14:650–5.
- Simmons RW, Wass T, Thomas JD, Riley EP. Fractionated simple and choice reaction time in children with prenatal exposure to alcohol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2002;26:1412–9.
- 22. Mattson SN, Riley EP. A review of the neurobehavioral deficits in children with fetal alcohol syndrome or prenatal exposure to alcohol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1998;22:279–94.
- 23. Jacobson SW, Jacobson JL, Sokol RJ. Effects of fetal alcohol exposure on infant reaction time. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1994;18:1125–32.

- 24. Jacobson SW, Jacobson JL, Sokol RJ, Martier SS, Ager JW. Prenatal alcohol exposure and infant information processing ability. Child Development 1993;64:1706–21.
- Kerns KA, Don A, Mateer CA, Streissguth AP. Cognitive deficits in nonretarded adults with fetal alcohol syndrome. J Learn Dis 1997; 30:685–93.
- Kopera-Frye K, Dehaene S, Streissguth AP. Impairments of number processing induced by prenatal alcohol exposure. Neuropsychologia 1996;34:1187–96.
- 27. Goldschmidt L, Richardson GA, Stoffer DS, Geva D, Day N. Prenatal alcohol exposure and academic achievement at age six: a nonlinear fit. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1996;20:763–70.
- 28. Pennington BF, Bennetto L, McAleer O, Roberts RJ. Executive functions and working memory: theoretical and measurement issues. In: Lyon GR, Krasnegor NA, eds. Attention, memory, and executive function. Baltimore, MD: Paul Brookes Publishing Co.; 1996:265–82.
- Kodituwakku PW, Handmaker NS, Cutler SK, Weathersby EK, Handmaker SD. Specific impairments in self-regulation in children exposed to alcohol prenatally. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1995;19:1558–64.
- Connor PD, Sampson PD, Bookstein FL, Barr HM, Streissguth AP. Direct and indirect effects of prenatal alcohol damage on executive function. Dev Neuropsychol 2000;18:331–54.
- Carmichael-Olson H, Feldman JJ, Streissguth AP, Sampson PD, Bookstein FL. Neuropsychological deficits in adolescents with fetal alcohol syndrome: clinical findings. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1998;22: 1998–2012.
- 32. Connor PD, Streissguth AP, Sampson PD, Bookstein Fl, Barr HM. Individual differences in auditory and visual attention among fetal alcohol-affected adults. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1999;23:1395–402.
- Mattson SN, Goodman AM, Caine C, Delis DC, Riley EP. Executive functioning in children exposed to alcohol prenatally. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1998;23:1808–15.
- 34. Coles CD. Impact of prenatal alcohol exposure on the newborn and the child. Clin Obs Gyn 1993;36:255–66.
- Janzen LA, Nanson JL, Block GW. Neuropsychological evaluation of preschoolers with fetal alcohol syndrome. Neurotoxicol Teratol1995;17:273–9.
- 36. Kyllerman M, Aronson M, Sabel K-G, Karlberg E, Sandin B, Olegard R. Children of alcoholic mothers. Acta Paediatr Scand 1985;74:20–6.
- 37. Kaemingk K, Paquette A. Effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on neuropsychological functioning. Dev Neuropsychol 1999;15:111–40.
- Smith IE, Lancaster JS, Moss-Wells S, Coles CD, Falek A. Identifying high-risk pregnant drinkers: biological and behavioral correlates of continuous heavy drinking during pregnancy. J Stud Alcohol 1987;48:304–9.
- Smith IE, Coles CD, Lancaster J, Fernhoff PM, Falek A. The effect of volume and duration of prenatal ethanol exposure on neonatal physical and behavioral development. Neurobeh Toxicol Teratol 1986;8:375–81.
- Aronson M, Kyllerman M, Sabel KG, Sandin B, Olegard R. Children of alcoholic mothers: developmental, perceptual, and behavioural characteristics as compared to matched controls. Acta Paediatr Scand 1985;74:27–35.
- 41. O'Connor MJ, Signman M, Kasari C. Attachment behavior of infants exposed to alcohol prenatally: mediating effects of infant affect and mother-infant interaction. Dev Psychopathol 1992;4:243–56.
- 42. Coles CD, Platzman KA, Raskind-Hood CL, Brown RT, Falek A, Smith IE. A comparison of children affected by prenatal alcohol exposure and attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1997;21:150–61.

- 43. Coles CD, Platzman KA, Lynch MA, Freides D. Auditory and visual sustained attention in adolescents prenatally exposed to alcohol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2002;26:263–71.
- 44. Streissguth AP, Bookstein FL, Sampson PD, Barr HM. Attention: prenatal alcohol and continuities of vigilance and attentional problems from 4 through 14 years. Dev Psychopathol 1995;7:419–46.
- Kopera-Frye K, Carmichael-Olson H, Streissguth AP. Teratogenic effects of alcohol on attention. In: Burack JA, Enns JT, eds. Attention, development and psychopathology. New York, NY: The Guilford Press; 1997:171–204.
- 46. Nanson JL, Hiscock M. Attention deficits in children exposed to alcohol prenatally. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1990;14:656–61.
- 47. Oesterheld JR, Wilson A. ADHD and FAS [Letter]. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1997;36:1163.
- Streissguth AP, Barr HM, Sampson PD, Parrish-Johnson JC, Kirchner GL, Martin DC. Attention, distraction and reaction time at age 7 years and prenatal alcohol exposure. Neurobeh Toxicicol Teratol 1986;8:717–25.
- Streissguth AP, Martin DC, Barr HM, Sandman BM. Intrauterine alcohol and nicotine exposure: attention and reaction time in 4-year-old children. Dev Psychol 1984;20:533–41.
- 50. Streissguth AP, Sampson PD, Carmichael-Olson H, et al. Maternal drinking during pregnancy: attention and short-term memory in 14-year-old offspring—a longitudinal prospective study. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1994;18:202–18.

- 51. Carmichael-Olson H, Morse BA, Huffine C. Development and psychopathology: fetal alcohol syndrome and related conditions. Semin Clin Neuropsychiatry 1998;3:262–84.
- 52. Thomas SE, Kelly SJ, Mattson SN, Riley EP. Comparison of social abilities of children with fetal alcohol syndrome to those of children with similar IQ scores and normal controls. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1998;22:528–33.
- 53. Streissguth AP. Fetal alcohol syndrome: a guide for families and communities. Baltimore, MD: Paul Brookes Publishing Co.; 1997.
- 54. Streissguth AP, Aase JM, Clarren SK, Randels SP, LaDue RA, Smith DF. Fetal alcohol syndrome in adolescents and adults. JAMA 1991;265:1961–7.
- 55. Coles CD, Platzman KA. Behavioral development in children prenatally exposed to drugs and alcohol. Int J Addict 1993;28:1393–433.
- Kelly SJ, Day N, Streissguth AP. Effect of prenatal alcohol exposure on social behavior in humans and other species. Neurotoxicol Teratol 2000;22:143–9.
- 57. Roebuck TM, Mattson SN, Riley EP. Behavioral and psychosocial profiles of alcohol-exposed children. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1999;23:1070–6.

## National Task Force on Fetal Alcohol Syndrome and Fetal Alcohol Effect Membership List, as of July 2004

Kristen L. Barry, PhD, Department of Veterans Affairs, Ann Arbor, Michigan; James E. Berner, MD, Alaska Native Tribal Health Consortium, Anchorage, Alaska; Raul Caetano, MD, PhD, University of Texas School of Public Health, Dallas, Texas; Faye B. Calhoun, DPA, National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, Bethesda Maryland; Michael E. Charness, MD, Harvard Medical School, Cambridge, Massachusetts; Deborah E. Cohen, PhD, New Jersey Office for Prevention of Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities, Trenton, New Jersey; Claire D. Coles, PhD, Marcus Institute, Atlanta, Georgia; Chris Cunniff, MD, University of Arizona, Tucson, Arizona; Karla Damus, PhD, March of Dimes, White Plains, New York; Nancy L. Day, PhD, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; Jocie C. Devries, FAS Family Resource Institute, Lynnwood, Washington; Mark B. Mengel, MD, St. Louis University School of Medicine, St. Louis, Missouri; Lisa Miller, MD, Colorado Responds to Children with Special Needs, Denver, Colorado; Kathleen T, Mitchell, MHS, LCADC, National Organization on Fetal Alcohol Syndrome, Washington, DC; Raquelle Myers, JD, National Indian Justice Center, Santa Rosa, California; Edward Riley, PhD, San Diego State University, San Diego, California; Luther K. Robinson, MD, State University of New York Buffalo School of Medicine, Buffalo, New York; Charles M. Schad, EdD, University of South Dakota, Spearfish, South Dakota; Robert J. Sokol, MD, Wayne State University, Detroit, Michigan; Daniel C. Vinson, MD, University of Missouri, Columbia, Missouri; Jean A. Wright, MD, Backus Children's Hospital, Savannah, Georgia; José Cordero, MD, Louise Floyd, DSN, National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities, CDC.

## Scientific Advisory Panel Membership List, as of July 2004

Herb Bischoff, PhD, Project Alaska, Anchorage, Alaska; Julia M. Bledsoe, MD, University of Washington, Seattle, Washington; Larry Burd, PhD, North Dakota Fetal Alcohol Syndrome Center, Grand Forks, North Dakota; Tom Donaldson, National Organization on Fetal Alcohol Syndrome, Washington, DC; Daniel Dubovsky, MSW, Fetal Alcohol Syndrome Center for Excellence, Rockville, Maryland; Sheila Gahagan, MD, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan; Marian Kummer, MD, National Committee of Children with Disabilities, Billings, Montana; Carole M. Lannon, MD, National Initiative for Children's Healthcare Quality, Boston, Massachusetts; Theresa Maresca, MD, University of Washington, Seattle, Washington; Sarah McGovern, National Initiative for Children's Healthcare Quality, Boston, Massachusetts; Uday C. Mehta, MD, University of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey-Robert Woods Johnson Medical School, Mountainside, New Jersey; Colleen A. Morris, MD, University of Nevada School of Medicine, Las Vegas, Nevada; Rick L. Olson, MD, Greenwood Genetic Center, Greenwood, South Carolina; Natalie E. Roche, MD, New Jersey Medical School, Newark, New Jersey; Thomas F. Tonninges, MD, American Academy of Pediatrics, Elk Grove Village, Illinois; Martha Alexander, MPH, Hani K. Atrash, MD, Jacquelyn Bertrand, PhD, Carol Cabal, PhD, José Cordero, MD, Yvette Dominique, Larry Edmonds, MSPH, Paul Fernoff, MD, R Louise Floyd, DSN, Connie Granoff, Melissa Hogan, Karen Hymbaugh, MPH, Cynthia Moore, MD, PhD, Elizabeth Parra, MPH, Jorge Rosenthal, PhD, Tanya Sharpe, PhD, Jasjeet Sidhu, MD, Mary K. Weber, MPH, Marshalyn Yeargin-Allsopp, MD, National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities, CDC.

## **Scientific Working Group**

Susan J. Astley, PhD, Heather Carmichael Olson, PhD, University of Washington, Seattle, Washington; Jocelynn L. Cook, PhD, Health Canada, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada; Chris Cunniff, MD, University of Arizona, Tucson, Arizona; Lewis B. Holmes, MD, Massachusetts General Hospital for Children, Boston, Massachusetts; Kenneth Lyons Jones, MD, University of California School of Medicine, San Diego, California; Kathleen T. Mitchell, MHS, LCADC, National Organization on Fetal Alcohol Syndrome, Washington, DC; Mary O'Connor, PhD, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, California; Edward Riley, PhD, San Diego State University, San Diego, California; Luther K. Robinson, MD, State University of New York Buffalo School of Medicine, Buffalo, New York; Kenneth R. Warren, PhD, National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, Bethesda, Maryland; Martha Alexander, MPH, Jacquelyn Bertrand, PhD, José Cordero, MD, R. Louise Floyd, DSN, Connie Granoff, Elizabeth Parra, MPH, Jasjeet Sidhu, MD, Mary K. Weber, MPH, National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities, CDC.





## **Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report**

## **Recommendations and Reports**

October 28, 2005 / Vol. 54 / No. RR-11

## **Continuing Education Activity Sponsored by CDC**

## Guidelines for Identifying and Referring Persons with Fetal Alcohol Syndrome

#### EXPIRATION — October 28, 2007

You must complete and return the response form electronically or by mail by **October 28, 2007**, to receive continuing education credit. If you answer all of the questions, you will receive an award letter for 1.25 hours Continuing Medical Education (CME) credit; 0.1 Continuing Education Units (CEUs); or

1.3 contact hours Continuing Nursing Education (CNE) credit. If you return the form electronically, you will receive educational credit immediately. If you mail the form, you will receive educational credit in approximately 30 days. No fees are charged for participating in this continuing education activity.

#### **INSTRUCTIONS**

#### By Internet

- Read this MMWR (Vol. 54, RR-11), which contains the correct answers to the questions beginning on the next page.
- Go to the MMWR Continuing Education Internet site at http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/cme/conted.html.
- Select which exam you want to take and select whether you want to register for CME, CEU, or CNE credit.
- 4. Fill out and submit the registration form.
- Select exam questions. To receive continuing education credit, you must answer all of the questions. Questions with more than one correct answer will instruct you to "Indicate all that apply."
- 6. Submit your answers no later than **October 28, 2007**.
- 7. Immediately print your Certificate of Completion for your records.

#### By Mail or Fax

- 1. Read this *MMWR* (Vol. 54, RR-11), which contains the correct answers to the questions beginning on the next page.
- Complete all registration information on the response form, including your name, mailing address, phone number, and e-mail address, if available.
- 3. Indicate whether you are registering for CME, CEU, or CNE credit.
- 4. Select your answers to the questions, and mark the corresponding letters on the response form. To receive continuing education credit, you must answer all of the questions. Questions with more than one correct answer will instruct you to "Indicate all that apply."
- Sign and date the response form or a photocopy of the form and send no later than **October 28, 2007**, to

Fax: 770-488-8555

Mail: MMWR CE Credit

Division of Scientific Communications

Coordinating Center for Health Information and Service, MS K-95

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

1600 Clifton Rd, N.E.

Atlanta, GA 30333

6. Your Certificate of Completion will be mailed to you within 30 days.

#### **ACCREDITATION**

**Continuing Medical Education (CME).** CDC is accredited by the Accreditation Council for Continuing Medical Education to provide continuing medical education for physicians. CDC designates this educational activity for a maximum of 1.25 hours in category 1 credit toward the AMA Physician's Recognition Award. Each physician should claim only those hours of credit that he/she actually spent in the educational activity.

**Continuing Education Unit (CEU).** CDC has been approved as an authorized provider of continuing education and training programs by the International Association for Continuing Education and Training. CDC will award 0.1 CEUs to participants who successfully complete this activity.

**Continuing Nursing Education (CNE).** This activity for 1.3 contact hours is provided by CDC, which is accredited as a provider of continuing education in nursing by the American Nurses Credentialing Center's Commission on Accreditation.

### **Goal and Objectives**

This report provides updated criteria for diagnosis of fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS) among persons affected by prenatal alcohol exposure. The goal of this report is to provide guidance for health-care providers in determining which persons might need referral for a complete multidisciplinary diagnostic evaluation and information regarding medical, educational, social, and family services appropriate for affected persons. Upon completion of this educational activity, the reader should be able to 1) describe the negative outcomes associated with prenatal exposure to alcohol, 2) list the specific criteria that constitute a diagnosis of FAS, 3) identify persons who should receive a referral for a multidisciplinary evaluation for FAS, 4) list services appropriate for a person receiving a FAS diagnosis, and 5) list instruments appropriate for screening women of childbearing age for alcohol use or abuse.

#### To receive continuing education credit, please answer all of the following questions.

- No amount of alcohol, type of alcohol, or time to consume alcohol is safe during pregnancy.
  - A. True.
  - B. False.
- 2. The cognitive deficits and behavioral problems resulting from prenatal exposure to alcohol...
  - A. are present only at birth.
  - B. resolve by age 3 years.
  - C. resolve by puberty.
  - D. are lifelong.
- 3. What percentage of sexually active women of childbearing age do not use contraception effectively and drink alcohol frequently or binge drink, putting them at risk for an alcohol-exposed pregnancy?
  - A. 1%-2%.
  - B. 12%-13%.
  - C. 20%-40%.
  - D. 50%-75%.
- 4. The diagnosis of FAS includes which of the following criteria?
  - A. Documentation of all three facial abnormalities (i.e., smooth philtrum, thin vermillion, and small palpebral fissures).
  - B. Documentation of growth deficits.
  - C. Documentation of central nervous system abnormalities.
  - D. Documentation of mental retardation.
  - E. A, B, and C.
  - F. A and D.
- 5. Which of the following statements is true?
  - A. One of the diagnostic criteria for FAS is mental retardation.
  - B. Persons who have been exposed to alcohol prenatally but whose physical condition is not consistent with the criteria for FAS might have substantial cognitive deficits.
  - C. All persons with FAS have attention deficit hyperactivity disorder.
  - Persons with FAS are likely to have speech and language impairments but not fine motor deficits.
- A person should be referred for a complete multidisciplinary diagnostic evaluation when...
  - A. all three facial features are present.
  - any concern is reported by a parent or caregiver that a child has or might possibly have been exposed to alcohol prenatally.
  - a child is living with an alcoholic parent, or the biological mother died as a result of alcohol-related disease or trauma.
  - D. all of the above.
- The diagnostic process, especially the neuropsychologic assessment, should be part of a continuum of care that identifies and facilitates appropriate health-care, education, and community services.
  - A. True.
  - B. False.

- 8. Simple alcohol screening techniques that are most beneficial include...
  - A. measure of quantity.
  - B. measure of frequency.
  - C. measure of heavy episodic drinking.
  - D. measure of behavioral manifestations of risk drinking.
  - E. all of the above.
- 9. Which best describes your professional activities:
  - A. Physician.
  - B. Nurse.
  - C. Health educator.
  - D. Office staff.
  - E. Other
- 10. I plan to use these recommendations as the basis for...(Indicate all that apply.)
  - A. health education materials.
  - B. insurance reimbursement policies.
  - C. local practice guidelines.
  - D. public policy.
  - E. other.
- 11. Overall, the length of the journal article was...
  - A. much too long.
  - B. a little too long.
  - C. just right.
  - D. a little too short.
  - E. much too short.
- 12. After reading this report, I am confident I can describe the negative outcomes associated with prenatal exposure to alcohol.
  - A. Strongly agree.
  - B. Agree.
  - C. Undecided.
  - D. Disagree.
  - E. Strongly disagree.
- 13. After reading this report, I am confident I can list the specific criteria that constitute a diagnosis of FAS.
  - A. Strongly agree.
  - B. Agree.
  - C. Undecided.
  - D. Disagree.
  - E. Strongly disagree.
- 14. After reading this report, I am confident I can identify persons who should receive a referral for a multidisciplinary evaluation for FAS.
  - A. Strongly agree.
  - B. Agree.
  - C. Undecided.
  - D. Disagree.
  - E. Strongly disagree.

A. Strongly agree.

E. Strongly disagree.

A. Strongly agree.

A. Strongly agree.

C. Undecided.

D. Disagree.

B. Agree.

abuse.

B. Agree. C. Undecided. D. Disagree. E. Strongly disagree.

report.

for a person receiving a FAS diagnosis.

17. The learning outcomes (objectives) were relevant

15. After reading this report, I am confident I can list services appropriate

16. After reading this report, I am confident I can list instruments

appropriate for screening women of childbearing age for alcohol use or

A. Strongly agree.

E. Strongly disagree.

A. Strongly agree.

C. Undecided.

C. Undecided.

D. Disagree.

B. Agree.

B. Agree.

Fax

Phone Number

0

Apartment

City

Last Name (print or type)

Street Address or P.O.

Date I Completed Exam

A. A. B. C. D. E.	pendix) helped Strongly agred Agree. Undecided. Disagree. Strongly disag	gree.
onse Form for Continuing Educat ober 28, 2005/Vol. 54/No. RR-11	es for Identifying and Referring Persons with Fetal Alcohol Syndrome	e continuing education credit, you must e your contact information (please print or type); e your choice of CME, CME for nonphysicians, or CNE credit; rall of the test questions; nd date this form or a photocopy; your answer form by October 28, 2007. complete these items can result in a delay or of your application for continuing education credit.

		Disagre Strongly	e. y disagree.		
to the goal of this	A. B. C. D.	Strongly Agree. Undecide Disagre	y agree. ded.	the journal article was excellent.	
t (text, box, and	A. B. C. D.	Strongly Agree. Undecid Disagre	y agree. ded.	ons will improve the quality of my practice.	
				(Continued on pg CE-2	1)
CME Credit  CME for nonphysicians Credit  CEU Credit  CNE Credit	photoco	ору.	ust answer all	[10 [1] [1] [1] [1] [1] [1] [1] [1] [1] [1]	Date I Completed Exam
First Name	ZIP Code	Number	answers. Remember, you must answer all on credit!	14. [] A [] B [] C [ 15. [] A [] B [] C [ 16. [] A [] B [] C [ 17. [] A [] B [] C [ 19. [] A [] B [] C [ 20. [] A [] B [] C [ 21. [] A [] B [] C [ 22. [] A [] B [] C [ 23. [] A [] B [] C [ 24. [] A [] B [] C [ 25. [] A [] B [] C [ 26. [] A [] B [] C [ 27. [] A [] B [] C [ 28. [] A [] B [] C [ 29. [] A [] B [] C [ 29. [] A [] B [] C [ 20. [] A [] A [] B [] C [ 20. [] A [] A [] B [] C [ 20. [] A [] A [] A [] B [] C [ 20. [] A []	Date I

to receive continuing educat

of the questions

Fill in 1

E-Mail Address

 $\circ \circ \circ \circ \circ$ 

000000

the appropriate blocks to indicate your

19. The content was appropriate given the stated objectives of the report.

20. The content expert(s) demonstrated expertise in the subject matter.

- 23. The availability of continuing education credit influenced my decision to read this report.
  - A. Strongly agree.
  - B. Agree.
  - C. Undecided.
  - D. Disagree.
  - E. Strongly disagree.
- 24. The MMWR format was conducive to leaning this content.
  - A. Strongly agree.
  - B. Agree.
  - C. Undecided.
  - D. Disagree.
  - E. Strongly disagree.

- 25. Do you feel this course was commercially biased? (Indicate yes or no; if yes, please explain in the space provided.)
  - A. Yes.
  - B. No.
- 26. How did you learn about the continuing education activity?
  - A. Internet.
  - B. Advertisement (e.g., fact sheet, MMWR cover, newsletter, or journal).
  - C. Coworker/supervisor.
  - D. Conference presentation.
  - E. MMWR subscription.
  - F. Other.

Correct answers for questions I–8. I. A; 2. D; 3. B; 4. E; 5. B; 6. D; 7. A; 8. E.

#### **MMWR**

The Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) Series is prepared by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and is available free of charge in electronic format and on a paid subscription basis for paper copy. To receive an electronic copy each week, send an e-mail message to listserv@listserv.cdc.gov. The body content should read SUBscribe mmwr-toc. Electronic copy also is available from CDC's World-Wide Web server at http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr or from CDC's file transfer protocol server at ftp://ftp.cdc.gov/pub/publications/mmwr. To subscribe for paper copy, contact Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC 20402; telephone 202-512-1800.

Data in the weekly *MMWR* are provisional, based on weekly reports to CDC by state health departments. The reporting week concludes at close of business on Friday; compiled data on a national basis are officially released to the public on the following Friday. Address inquiries about the *MMWR* Series, including material to be considered for publication, to Editor, *MMWR* Series, Mailstop K-95, CDC, 1600 Clifton Rd., N.E., Atlanta, GA 30333; telephone 888-232-3228.

All material in the MMWR Series is in the public domain and may be used and reprinted without permission; citation as to source, however, is appreciated.

All MMWR references are available on the Internet at http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr. Use the search function to find specific articles.

Use of trade names and commercial sources is for identification only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

References to non-CDC sites on the Internet are provided as a service to MMWR readers and do not constitute or imply endorsement of these organizations or their programs by CDC or the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. CDC is not responsible for the content of these sites. URL addresses listed in MMWR were current as of the date of publication.

☆U.S. Government Printing Office: 2006-523-142/00116 Region IV ISSN: 1057-5987